



NIST Technical Note 1432

Test Procedures for Electric Motors Under 10 CFR Part 431

K. L. Stricklett and M. Vangel



X

100

10.1432

2000

IST National Institute of Standards and Technology • Technology Administration • U.S. Department of Commerce

The National Institute of Standards and Technology was established in 1988 by Congress to "assist industry in the development of technology ... needed to improve product quality, to modernize manufacturing processes, to ensure product reliability ... and to facilitate rapid commercialization ... of products based on new scientific discoveries."

NIST, originally founded as the National Bureau of Standards in 1901, works to strengthen U.S. industry's competitiveness; advance science and engineering; and improve public health, safety, and the environment. One of the agency's basic functions is to develop, maintain, and retain custody of the national standards of measurement, and provide the means and methods for comparing standards used in science, engineering, manufacturing, commerce, industry, and education with the standards adopted or recognized by the Federal Government.

As an agency of the U.S. Commerce Department's Technology Administration, NIST conducts basic and applied research in the physical sciences and engineering, and develops measurement techniques, test methods, standards, and related services. The Institute does generic and precompetitive work on new and advanced technologies. NIST's research facilities are located at Gaithersburg, MD 20899, and at Boulder, CO 80303. Major technical operating units and their principal activities are listed below. For more information contact the Publications and Program Inquiries Desk, 301-975-3058.

Office of the Director

- National Quality Program
- · International and Academic Affairs

Technology Services

- Standards Services
- Technology Partnerships
- Measurement Services
- Information Services

Advanced Technology Program

- Economic Assessment
- Information Technology and Applications
- · Chemistry and Life Sciences
- Materials and Manufacturing Technology
- · Electronics and Photonics Technology

Manufacturing Extension Partnership Program

- Regional Programs
- National Programs
- Program Development

Electronics and Electrical Engineering Laboratory

- Microelectronics
- · Law Enforcement Standards
- Electricity
- Semiconductor Electronics
- Radio-Frequency Technology¹
- Electromagnetic Technology¹
- · Optoelectronics'

Materials Science and Engineering Laboratory

- Intelligent Processing of Materials
- Ceramics
- Materials Reliability¹
- Polymers
- Metallurgy
- NIST Center for Neutron Research

Chemical Science and Technology Laboratory

- Biotechnology
- Physical and Chemical Properties²
- Analytical Chemistry
- Process Measurements
- Surface and Microanalysis Science

Physics Laboratory

- · Electron and Optical Physics
- Atomic Physics
- Optical Technology
- Ionizing Radiation
- Time and Frequency¹
- Quantum Physics¹

Manufacturing Engineering Laboratory

- Precision Engineering
- Automated Production Technology
- Intelligent Systems
- Fabrication Technology
- Manufacturing Systems Integration

Building and Fire Research Laboratory

- Applied Economics
- Structures
- Building Materials
- Building Environment
- · Fire Safety Engineering
- Fire Science

Information Technology Laboratory

- Mathematical and Computational Sciences²
- Advanced Network Technologies
- Computer Security
- Information Access and User Interfaces
- High Performance Systems and Services
- Distributed Computing and Information Services
- Software Diagnostics and Conformance Testing
- Statistical Engineering

NIST Technical Note 1432

Test Procedures for Electric Motors Under 10 CFR Part 431

Supersedes NIST Technical Note 1422

K.L. Stricklett Electricity Division Electronics and Electrical Engineering Laboratory National Institute of Standards and Technology Gaithersburg, MD 20899-8113

M. Vangel Statistical Engineering Division Information Technology Laboratory National Institute of Standards and Technology Gaithersburg, MD 20899-8980

June 2000



U.S. Department of Commerce *William M. Daley, Secretary*

Technology Administration Dr. Cheryl L. Shavers, Under Secretary of Commerce for Technology

National Institute of Standards and Technology Raymond G. Kammer, Director National Institute of Standards and Technology Technical Note 1432 Natl. Inst. Stand. Technol. Tech. Note 1432 20 pages (June 2000) CODEN: NTNOEF U.S. Government Printing Office Washington: 2000

For Sale by the Superintendent of Documents U.S. Government Printing Office Washington, DC 20402-9325

Bibliographic Information

Abstract

The procedures for electric motor efficiency testing promulgated by Part 431 of Chapter II of Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, are discussed. The operating characteristics of the sampling plans for certification and enforcement testing are presented together with examples of the application of the sampling plans. The criteria for substantiation of an Alternative Energy Determination Method (AEDM) are also discussed.

Keywords

electric motor efficiency; electric motor testing; energy policy; operating characteristics; sampling plan

Ordering

Copies of this document are available from the National Technical Information Service, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22161, at 800-553-6847 or 703-487-4650.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	General guidelines	1
3	Industry practice	2
4	Methods of analysis	2
5	Compliance certification	2
	5.1 Examples of compliance testing	3
6	AEDM substantiation	4
7	Enforcement testing	5
	7.1 Method	6
	7.2 Enforcement testing example	8
8	Further information	9
\mathbf{A}_{j}	ppendix A: Exerpts from 10 CFR Part 431	11
	A.1 Certification testing	11
	A.2 AEDM substantiation	11
	A.3 The Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing	12

List of Figures

1.	The operating characteristics of the sampling plan for certification of compliance	4
2.	The operating characteristics of the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing	6

List of Tables

1.	The NEMA Nominal and Minimum Efficiencies	3
2.	t coefficients for specified confidence	4
3.	An abridged t-table.	9

1 Introduction

This note provides analysis of the procedures for efficiency testing of polyphase electric motors promulgated by Part 431 of the Code of Federal Regulations [1]. It is intended to supplement the materials published in the Federal Register [1, 2], and to specifically address issues regarding the performance of these sampling plans in establishing conformance with the minimum nominal efficiencies mandated by the Energy Policy and Conservation Act of 1975 (EPCA), as amended [3]. Part 431 will be referred to herein as the Final Rule. In the context of the Final Rule, laboratory measurements of motor efficiency are used for three purposes: 1) certification of efficiency performance; 2) substantiation of an Alternative Efficiency Determination Method (AEDM); and 3) enforcement testing. This note discusses each of these topics in turn and thus supersedes NIST Technical Note 1422 [4], which dealt solely with enforcement testing.

The remainder of this document is organized as follows: Section 2 discusses the general objectives and constraints for testing under EPCA; Section 3 discusses the guidelines for motor efficiency labeling established by NEMA Standard MG 1-1993; Section 4 discusses the model assumptions used in calculating the operating characteristics; Section 5 discusses the operating characteristics of the sampling plan for certification testing; Section 6 discusses substantiation of an Alternate Energy Determination Method (AEDM); Section 7 discusses the operating characteristics of the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing. For the convenience of the reader, relevant portions of the Final Rule are provided in Appendix A.

2 General guidelines

We begin with a brief summary of the general objectives and guidelines for testing under the EPCA legislation. A general statement of purpose of the EPCA legislation is provided in 42 U.S.C. 6312(a):

It is the purpose of this part to improve the efficiency of electric motors and pumps and certain other industrial equipment in order to conserve the energy resources of the Nation. To this end, EPCA establishes energy efficiency standards, i.e., a set of minimum nominal efficiencies, for certain general purpose electric motors.

The EPCA legislation establishes that a program of systematic testing be used to demonstrate that energy efficiency standards are met. The objectives and limitations of testing under EPCA are stated in 42 U.S.C. 6314(a)(2):

Test procedures prescribed in accordance with this section shall be reasonably designed to produce test results which reflect energy efficiency, energy use, and estimated operating costs of a type of industrial equipment (or class thereof) during a representative average use cycle (as determined by the Secretary), and shall not be unduly burdensome to conduct.

The EPCA legislation, in 42 U.S.C. 6314(d)(1), further requires that the represented energy efficiency be based on product testing:

- ... no manufacturer, distributor, retailer or private labeler may make any representation—
- (A) in writing (including any representation on a label), or
- (B) in any broadcast advertisement,

respecting the energy consumption of such equipment or cost of energy consumed by such equipment, unless such equipment has been tested in accordance with such test procedure and such representation fairly discloses the results of such testing.

To re-cap, the purposes of EPCA are met provided: 1) the *average* energy efficiency of each covered product is not less than the applicable EPCA efficiency standard, and 2) the *average* energy efficiency of each covered product is not less than the represented energy efficiency. Compliance with EPCA energy efficiency standards and with the represented energy efficiency is demonstrated by a program of systematic testing. EPCA stipulates that testing should not be unduly burdensome to conduct. Thus the two key criteria for the evaluation of a sampling plan established under EPCA are: 1) the assurance provided by that plan that the average performance of that product meets or exceeds the EPCA standard efficiency and the represented efficiency, and 2) the burden placed on industry by testing under the plan.

3 Industry practice

Industry guidelines for efficiency labeling are established by NEMA Standard MG 1-1993 [5]. Table 12-8 of this standard establishes a set of "Nominal Efficiencies" that are to be used for purposes of labeling and a "Minimum Efficiency" that is associated with each Nominal Efficiency. The NEMA Nominal Efficiencies as well as the EPCA nominal efficiencies are listed in Table 1. It should be noted that the EPCA standard values were adapted from the NEMA standard. Under §12.58.2 of the NEMA Standard, two conditions must be satisfied for a motor to be labeled with a given Nominal Efficiency:

- 1. "... the Nominal Efficiency ... shall be not greater than the average efficiency of a large population of motors of the same design."
- 2. "The full-load efficiency ... shall be not less than the minimum value ... associated with the nominal value. ... "

Under the Final Rule, measurement of motor efficiencies is based on two standards: 1) IEEE Standard 112-1996 [6] and 2) CSA-390 [7]. The reader is referred to these standards and to the Final Rule for a discussion of efficiency measurements for electric motors. When under these standards as directed by the Final Rule the determination of efficiency is based on two measured quantities: 1) a measurement of the total losses, and 2) measurement of the output power. The NEMA Standard establishes efficiency levels that differ by increments of approximately 10% of the full-load losses. The Minimum Efficiencies correspond to approximately 120% of the rated loss.

4 Methods of analysis

The sampling plans established by the Final Rule are examined here by means of model calculations to predict their operating characteristics, where the operating characteristics of a sampling are the estimated probabilities of being found in compliance when testing a specified population of motors. Calculation of the operating characteristics of these sampling plans relies on numerical methods of approximation. A discussion of these algorithms can be found in separate reports [4, 8]. Detailed information regarding the distribution of motor efficiencies is required to model the operating characteristics. Following methods used by the NEMA, Motors and Generators Section [9], we assume that motor efficiencies are normally distributed. The distribution of efficiencies of units of a basic model is thus characterized by two parameters: the true mean, μ , and the standard deviation, σ , of the population.

The operating characteristics are given below in terms of the total losses. This method of presentation has the advantage that the full range of the Nominal Efficiencies can be displayed in a single plot. For this presentation, we define the Loss Fraction, LF, by the ratio,

$$LF = \frac{100 - RE}{100 - TE} \times 100,$$
 (1)

where RE is the rated efficiency and TE is the true efficiency of the population. So stated, the loss fraction is a percentage of the rated full-load losses such that 100% corresponds to the case where the true efficiency of the population and the rated efficiency are equal.

The open-ended nature of testing under the Final Rule introduces a complication. Testing under the Final Rule is open-ended in that the number of motors tested is not fixed from the outset of testing: In the case of certification testing, a manufacturer could test as few as five motors, but may test any arbitrarily large number of motors; likewise the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing specifies an initial sample of five but allows testing of up to 20 motors. This scenario is difficult to characterize statistically, and we have chosen to treat testing in the approximation that the sample size is fixed from the outset.

5 Compliance certification

The full text of the sampling plan for compliance certification may be found in Appendix A of this report. To emphasize the salient features of the sampling plan, we paraphrase these criteria as follows:

Compliance with a rated efficiency is demonstrated provided:

(A) The average full-load efficiency of a sample of not fewer than five motors is not less than the value given by the following expression,

$$\frac{100}{1+1.05\left(\frac{100}{RE}-1\right)},\tag{2}$$

where RE is the rated efficiency, and

Nominal Efficiency	Minimum Efficiency	Nominal Efficiency	Minimum Efficiency
99.0	98.8	94.1	93.0
98.9	98.7	93.6	92.4
98.8	98.6	93.0	91.7
98.7	98.5	92.4	91.0
98.6	98.4	91.7	90.2
98.5	98.2	91.0	89.5
98.4	98.0	90.2	88.5
98.2	97.8	89.5	87.5
98.0	97.6	88.5	86.5
97.8	97.4	87.5	85.5
97.6	97.1	86.5	84.0
97.4	96.8	85.5	82.5
97.1	96.5	84.0	81.5
96.8	96.2	82.5	80.0
96.5	95.8	81.5	78.5
96.2	95.4	80.0	77.0
95.8	95.0	78.5	75.5
95.4	94.5	77.0	74.0
95.0	94.1	75.5	72.0
94.5	93.6		

Table 1: The NEMA Nominal and Minimum Efficiencies. The EPCA nominal efficiencies, i.e., motor efficiencies that are specified explicitly as minimum nominal efficiencies, are shown in **bold**. This table is adapted from Table 12-8 of NEMA Standard MG 1-1993 [5].

(B) No individual motor in the sample shall have full-load efficiency less than the value given by the following expression,

$$\frac{100}{1+1.15\left(\frac{100}{RE}-1\right)},\tag{3}$$

where RE is the rated efficiency.

The operating characteristics of this sampling plan are shown in Figure 1. The data shown depict the outcome when testing a sample of five motors. The contours shown in the figure correspond to equal probabilities of demonstrating compliance. For example, if the average efficiency of a basic model is equal to the rated efficiency, i.e., LF = 100%, and the standard deviation of the total losses is approximately 6% of the total losses, then the probability of demonstrating compliance with the rated efficiency is approximately 95%. The risk of a false determination of non-compliance is thus approximately 5%, in this case.

5.1 Examples of compliance testing

Several hypothetical cases of testing under this sampling plan are presented. Assume for this discussion that a basic model is being tested to demonstrate compliance with a rated efficiency of 89.5%. The condition on the sample mean is obtained by using Eq. 2, which, for a rated efficiency of 89.5, yields 89.0. The condition on the sample minimum efficiency is obtained by using Eq. 3, which, for a rated efficiency of 89.5, yields 88.1.

A demonstration of compliance: Five motors are selected at random from a representative population of motors and tested. The results of testing yield efficiencies of 89.9, 89.2, 89.0, 89.3, and 89.4. The mean efficiency of the sample and the sample minimum efficiency are thus 89.4 and 89.0, respectively. Since the sample mean is greater than 89.0 and the least efficient motor has an efficiency that is greater than 88.1, the criteria for a demonstration of compliance are satisfied and the manufacturer may represent the basic model to be 89.5% efficient.

Non-compliance due to a low mean: Five motors are selected at random from a representative population of motors and tested. The test results yield efficiencies of 88.9, 88.8, 88.6, 89.0, and 89.1. The mean efficiency for the sample and the sample minimum efficiency are thus 88.9 and 88.6, respectively. Since the sample mean is less than 89.0, the



Figure 1: The operating characteristics of the sampling plan for certification of compliance. The contours indicate the probability of demonstrating compliance, e.g., the 0.900 contour corresponds to a 90% likelihood of demonstrating compliance while testing under the sampling plan. The model calculations shown are for a sample of five.

criteria for a demonstration of compliance are not satisfied; the manufacturer may not represent the basic model to have a rated efficiency of 89.5. The manufacturer may elect to conduct further testing; however the initial test results must be included when computing the new sample mean and sample minimum. Assume that the manufacturer elects to test two additional motors and that the new test results yield efficiencies of 89.3 and 89.5. Since the sample mean for the entire sample of 7 motors is equal to 89.0 and no unit in the sample tested below the minimum efficiency, the basic model is determined to be in compliance with a rated efficiency of 89.5.

Non-compliance due to a low minimum: Five motors are selected at random from a representative population of motors and tested. The test results yield efficiencies of 89.9, 89.2, 88.0, 89.3, 89.4, and 89.9. The mean efficiency for the sample and the sample minimum efficiency are thus 89.2 and 88.0, respectively. Since the sample minimum is less than 88.1 the basic model is not in compliance; the manufacturer may not represent the basic model to have a rated efficiency of 89.5. Since the 88.0 test result may not be excluded, further testing will serve no purpose and testing is at an end. Compliance with a rated efficiency of 89.5 has not been demonstrated.

Table 2: t coefficients for specified confidence.^a

t	Statistical	Probability of
	Confidence	Exceeding E
3	99.7	0.003
2.56	99	0.010
2	95.5	0.045
1.96	95	0.050
1.64	90	0.100

^aAdapted from ASTM Std E 122-89

6 AEDM substantiation

Per Subpart B §431.24(a)(3) of the Final Rule, laboratory efficiency measurements may also provide the basis for substantiation of an Alternative Efficiency Determination Method (AEDM); i.e., a mathematical model based on engineering or statistical analysis, computer simulation or modeling, or other analytic evaluation of performance data that may be used to assign motor efficiency. To emphasize the salient features of the Final Rule 7 we paraphrase $\frac{3431.24}{a}(3)$ as follows:

Enforcement testing

An AEDM is substantiated provided:

- 1. At least five different basic models are tested according to the procedures established for certification testing, and
- 2. The total power loss calculated by the AEDM is within the interval of $\pm 10\%$ of the mean total power loss determined from the actual testing for each of the basic models tested.

The scenario described, in which testing is required to conform to a predetermined precision is addressed by ASTM Standard E 122-89 [10]. This standard is based on the t statistic and establishes the sample size required to determine a two-sided confidence interval on the estimate of the mean. The following discussion provides an estimate of the number of tests needed to support the $\pm 10\%$ precision required by the Final Rule.

Following the ASTM standard, the sample size n needed to support a tolerance E is given by the following expression:

$$n = \left(\frac{t\sigma}{E}\right)^2,\tag{4}$$

where σ is the standard deviation, t is a coefficient that corresponds to the desired statistical confidence. Values of t for commonly specified statistical confidences are presented in Table 2. Since a high statistical confidence is desired, we set the coefficient t to three. The error tolerance, E, is 10% of the total loss, i.e.,

$$E = 0.10(100 - RE).$$
(5)

If we further assume, as discussed in section 3, that a 20% tolerance in total loss corresponds to three standard deviations, i.e.,

$$3\sigma = 0.20(100 - RE), \tag{6}$$

we may arrive at the following result,

$$n = \left[\frac{0.20(100 - RE)}{0.10(100 - RE)}\right]^2,\tag{7}$$

and conclude that no fewer than four motors should be tested. The Final Rule, in establishing a minimum sample of five for compliance testing, appears to be consistent with this result. Enforcement testing is likely to be required only in the circumstance that all other means of resolving conflicting interpretations of test results and/or labeled motor efficiencies have been exhausted. Further, as it may be necessary to enter results obtained by testing under the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing is based on well-established statistical methods and follows clearly delineated procedures. The Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing is based on a procedure, which is due to C. Stein [11, 12], for obtaining a confidence interval on a mean.

Since the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing may recommend that certain adverse actions be taken against a manufacturer—e.g., relabeling, the cessation of the sale and distribution of certain basic models, and the assessment of fines—the risk of a false determination of noncompliance should be small. The sampling plan is based on a 97.5% statistical confidence, thus the risk to a manufacturer of a false determination of noncompliance is no greater than 2.5%.

The legislation is supported by ensuring that the mean efficiency of each basic model is not less than the EPCA nominal efficiency and the rated efficiency. This objective may be satisfied by demonstrating that the mean efficiency obtained by tests conducted on a random sample of motors exceeds a lower control limit. The Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing estimates the true mean full-load efficiency of the basic model and the confidence that this estimate exceeds a lower control limit. The Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing assumes that the true mean fullload efficiency, the standard deviation of the motor efficiencies, and the distribution of motor efficiencies are not known.

The Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing has been adapted from that provided for appliance testing under Part 430 [13]. This sampling plan is based on the t-test. The t-test is well suited to this application as it is well known to be insensitive to departures from the assumption of normally distributed data: The t-test is a test on a mean, i.e., an average of independent values obtained by a random sample. In general, sums of arbitrary, independent random values tend to have a distribution that is *almost* normal. Hence, the t-test is not strongly influenced by the exact form of the underlying distribution.



Figure 2: The operating characteristics of the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing. Model calculations are for samples of five and a maximum of 20. The contours indicate the probability of demonstrating compliance, e.g., the 0.90 contour corresponds to a 90% likelihood of demonstrating compliance.

7.1 Method

The best estimate of the true mean efficiency that may be obtained by tests conducted on a random sample is the mean efficiency of that sample,

$$\bar{X} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i, \tag{8}$$

where X_i is the measured full-load efficiency of unit i, and n is the number of units tested. The uncertainty of this estimate depends on two factors: 1) the size of the sample, i.e., the number of motors tested, and 2) the underlying variability in the entire population of motors. The sample standard deviation,

$$S = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (X_i - \bar{X})^2}{n-1}},$$
(9)

is one measure of the variability of the motor efficiencies. The standard error in the mean,

$$SE(\bar{X}) = \frac{S}{\sqrt{n}},\tag{10}$$

provides an estimate of the standard deviation of the mean efficiency as determined by tests conducted on samples of n units. If we assume that the efficiencies of the entire population of motors are normally distributed about the true mean full-load efficiency, μ , then the ratio,

$$t = \frac{\mu - \bar{X}}{SE(\bar{X})},\tag{11}$$

is distributed according to a probability density function that is known in statistics literature as the tdistribution. The values of t associated with commonly specified percentiles are readily available and are included in many references on statistics [14].

Establishing a lower control limit. Equation (11) provides an expression for the mean of the sample:

$$\bar{X} = \mu - tSE(\bar{X}). \tag{12}$$

We may assume, by hypothesis, that the units to be tested are drawn from a population of motors for which the mean full-load efficiency is equal to or greater than the rated efficiency RE. If t is the 97.5th percentile of the t-distribution appropriate to the sample size, then the probability of obtaining a mean efficiency,

$$\bar{X} \ge RE - tSE(\bar{X}),\tag{13}$$

is not less than 97.5%, which recommends the lower control limit,

$$LCL = RE - tSE(\bar{X}). \tag{14}$$

To apply this method, a random sample of motors is tested and the mean and standard error in the mean are calculated. Based on the size of the sample and the confidence desired, the appropriate t-value is selected and the lower control limit calculated. For example, 97.5% confidence and a sample size of five units recommends a t-value of 2.776. Provided the mean efficiency obtained from the random sample is not less than the lower control limit, as defined by Eq. (14), we may assert with a confidence not less than 97.5% that the true mean efficiency of the entire population is not less than the rated efficiency and thus that the basic model is in compliance.

In any statistical test there is some probability of incorrectly concluding noncompliance. By design, the probability that the mean efficiency for a random sample drawn from this population of motors would fall below the lower control limit, hence, the risk of incorrectly concluding that the basic model is in noncompliance, is not greater than 2.5%.

There is some probability that the estimate of the standard deviation and, therefore, that the standard error in the mean is large and that the lower control limit may be set, by chance, to an exceptionally large value. To avoid this circumstance, it is sufficient to establish a tolerance for the standard error in the mean, $SE(\bar{X})$. The tolerance for the standard error should be chosen to be appropriate for the size and type of motor being tested and to be supported across the industry.

By definition, the efficiency as a percentage can be expressed as,

$$\mu = \frac{P_{out}}{P_{in}} \times 100, \tag{15}$$

where P_{in} and P_{out} are the input and output power, respectively. Following the convention used by NEMA [5], the minimum efficiency is calculated at constant output power, thus

$$\mu_{min} = \frac{P_{out}}{P_{in} + 0.20(P_{in} - P_{out})} \times 100$$
$$= \frac{\mu}{120 - 0.20\mu} \times 100, \tag{16}$$

which is again expressed as a percentage. The lower

control limit must then satisfy two conditions:

$$LCL = RE - tSE(\bar{X}) \text{ and}$$
 (17)

$$\geq \frac{RE}{120 - 0.20RE} \times 100.$$
(18)

The second condition is obtained from Eq. (16) by setting the efficiency equal to the RE.

Discussion. By design, the tolerances for the motor efficiency specified by the Final Rule are closely associated with the NEMA guidelines for motor efficiency labeling, and are thus likely to follow quality control practices used by industry. This has several potential advantages: 1) industry should be better able to estimate the risk involved with the selection of a basic model for testing and thus better manage their financial risk, and 2) the investment required for personnel training should be reduced since the tolerances recommended by Part 431 follow those currently used by industry.

The Sampling Plan has an additional advantage: If a manufacturer is in compliance with the voluntary NEMA guidelines for motor efficiency labeling, the probability of demonstrating compliance by actual testing is high. As discussed, the probability of failure during enforcement testing due to a low mean value is not greater than 2.5%. A motor may also fail during enforcement testing due to high variability. We next estimate the likelihood that a motor labeled in accordance with the MG 1 guidelines would fail during enforcement testing due to insufficient sample size. Step 7 of the NOPR Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing sets a condition on the sample size. To demonstrate compliance, the initial sample size n_1 must satisfy the following condition:

$$n_1 \ge \left[\frac{tS_1(120 - 0.2RE)}{RE(20 - 0.2RE)}\right]^2,\tag{19}$$

where RE is the rated efficiency and S_1 is the standard deviation of the sample. This equation may be rearranged to yield a condition on the value of t:

$$t \le \left[\frac{\sqrt{n_1 RE(20 - 0.2RE)}}{S_1(120 - 0.2RE)}\right].$$
 (20)

Following our earlier discussion, we assume that the difference between the NEMA Nominal and Minimum efficiencies corresponds to three standard deviations, and use the following approximation:

$$S_1 \approx \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{n_1}} \approx \frac{0.20(100 - RE)}{3\sqrt{n_1}}$$

Upon substitution into Eq. 20, the following condition on t is obtained:

$$t < 3n_1 \frac{RE(20 - 0.20RE)}{0.20(100 - RE)(120 - 0.2RE)}$$

For an initial sample of five, t must exceed ten for the sample to fail due to insufficient sample size. The probability that t would exceed 10 by chance is less than 1 in 1000, for a sample of five. We conclude that it is highly unlikely that a product that is labeled in accordance with the MG 1 guidelines would require testing beyond the initial sample of five.

The operating characteristics of the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing are shown in Figure 2, which present data for an initial sample of five and testing as many as 20. It may be noted that the 97.5% contour is independent of the standard deviation.

7.2 Enforcement testing example

A specific example of the use of the Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing follows. We assume that a basic model is tested for a rated efficiency of 89.5.

The manufacturer may select at random no fewer than five units and no more than 20 units from a representative population of motors.

Step 1. The first sample size (n_1) must be five or more units.

In this example, we assume that the manufacturer elects to test an initial sample of five motors, $n_1 = 5$.

Step 2. Compute the mean (\bar{X}_1) of the measured energy performance of the n_1 units in the first sample as follows:

$$\bar{X}_1 = \frac{1}{n_1} \sum_{i=1}^{n_1} X_i \tag{21}$$

where X_i is the measured full-load efficiency of unit i.

Assume, as in the earlier example of compliance testing, that the results of testing yield efficiencies of 89.9, 89.2, 89.0, 89.3, 89.4. The mean of the sample is thus 89.4.

Step 3. Compute the sample standard deviation (S_1) of the measured full-load efficiency of the n_1 units in the first sample as follows:

$$S_1 = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n_1} (X_i - \bar{X_1})^2}{n_1 - 1}}.$$
 (22)

The sample standard deviation is 0.3.

Step 4. Compute the standard error $(SE(\bar{X}_1))$ of the mean full-load efficiency of the first sample as

follows:

$$SE(\bar{X}_1) = \frac{S_1}{\sqrt{n_1}}.$$
 (23)

The standard error of the mean is 0.2.

Step 5. Compute the lower control limit (LCL_1) for the mean of the first sample using RE as the desired mean as follows:

$$LCL_1 = RE - tSE(\bar{X}_1) \tag{24}$$

where RE is the applicable EPCA nominal full-load efficiency when the test is to determine compliance to the applicable statutory standard, or is the labeled nominal full-load efficiency when the test is to determine compliance with the labeled efficiency value, and t is the 2.5th percentile of a *t*-distribution for a sample size of n_1 , which yields a 97.5% confidence level for a one-tailed *t*-test.

Next select the t-coefficient for a sample of five units and a statistical confidence of 97.5%. The value of the t-coefficient may be obtained from standard mathematical tables. A table of t-coefficients is provided here in Table 3. It should be noted that the tcoefficient is often tabulated according to the "degrees of freedom," which is $(n_1 - 1)$.

For a sample size of five the degrees of freedom is 4, thus the t-coefficient is 2.776 and the lower control limit is 89.1.

- Step 6. Compare the mean of the first sample (\bar{X}_1) with the lower control limit (LCL_1) to determine one of the following:
 - (i) If the mean of the first sample is below the lower control limit, then the basic model is in noncompliance and testing is at an end.
 - (ii) If the mean is equal to or greater than the lower control limit, no final determination of compliance or noncompliance can be made; proceed to Step 7.

Since the mean of the initial sample is greater than the lower control limit, proceed to Step 7.

Step 7. Determine the recommended sample size (n) as follows:

$$n = \left[\frac{tS_1(120 - 0.2RE)}{RE(20 - 0.2RE)}\right]^2$$
(25)

where S_1 and t have the values used in Steps 4 and 5, respectively. The factor

$$\frac{120 - 0.2RE}{RE(20 - 0.2RE)}$$

is based on a 20% tolerance in the total power loss at full load and fixed output power.

The recommended sample size is two.

Given the value of n, determine one of the following:

- (i) If the value of n is less than or equal to n_1 and if the mean energy efficiency of the first sample (\bar{X}_1) is equal to or greater than the lower control limit (LCL_1) , the basic model is in compliance and testing is at an end.
- (ii) If the value of n is greater than n_1 , the basic model is in noncompliance. The size of a second sample n_2 is determined to be the smallest integer equal to or greater than the difference $n n_1$. If the value of n_2 so calculated is greater than $20 n_1$, set n_2 equal to $20 n_1$.

Since the initial sample size is greater than the recommended sample size, the basic model is in compliance and testing is at an end.

Table 3: An abridged *t*-table. *t* coefficients based on a statistic confidence of 97.5%, sample size *n*, and degrees of freedom ν .

n	ν	t
5	4	2.776
6	5	2.571
7	6	2.447
8	7	2.365
9	8	2.306
10	9	2.262
11	10	2.228
12	11	2.201
13	12	2.179
14	13	2.160
15	14	2.145
16	15	2.131
17	16	2.120
18	17	2.110
19	18	2.101
20	19	2.093

8 Further information

For further information regarding Final Rule contact:

James Raba U.S. Department of Energy Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Mail Station EE-43 1000 Independence Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20585-0121 202-586-8654 Jim.Raba@hq.doe.gov

Edward Levy, Esq. U.S. Department of Energy Office of General Counsel Mail Station GC-72 1000 Independence Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20585-0103 202-586-2928 edward.levy@hq.doe.gov

For information regarding this report contact:

Ken Stricklett National Institute of Standards and Technology Bldg 220 Rm B344 100 Bureau Drive Stop 8113 Gaithersburg, MD 20899-8113 301-975-3955 ken.stricklett@nist.gov

Mark Vangel National Institute of Standards and Technology NIST North 353 100 Bureau Drive Stop 8980 Gaithersburg, MD 20899-8980 301-975-3208 mark.vangel@nist.gov

Acknowledgments

This report was completed with the support of the U.S. Department of Energy and the Technology Administration of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

References

- Energy efficiency program for certain commercial and industrial equipment: Test procedures, labeling, and certification requirements for electric motors. *Federal Register*, 64(192):54114– 54172, Tuesday, October 5, 1999.
- [2] Energy conservation program for certain commercial and industrial equipment: Test procedures, labeling, and certification requirements of electric motors; proposed rule. *Federal Register*, 61(230):60439–60475, Wednesday, November 27, 1996.
- [3] Energy Policy and Conservation Act of 1975, Pubic Law 94-163; National Energy Conservation Policy Act of 1978, Public Law 95-619; National Appliance Energy Conservation Act of 1987, Public Law 100-12; National Appliance Energy Conservation Amendments of 1988, Public Law 100-357; and Section 122(d), Energy Policy Act of 1992, Public Law 102-486, October 24, 1992.
- [4] K. L. Stricklett and M. G. Vangel. Electric motor efficiency testing under the new part 431 of chapter II of title 10, Code of Federal Regulations: Enforcement testing. NIST Technical Note 1422, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Technology Administration, U.S. Department of Commerce, December 1996.
- [5] National Electrical Manufacturers Association Standards Publication MG1-1993, Motors and Generators, and Revisions 1, 2, 3 and 4. National Electrical Manufacturers Association, Rosslyn, VA, 22209.
- [6] Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Standard test procedure for polyphase induction motors and generators, IEEE Std 112-1996, and the correction to the calculation at item (28) in section 10.2 Form B-Test Method B issued by IEEE on January 20, 1998. Institute of Electrical and Elecronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, NJ, 08855.
- [7] CSA International (or Canadian Standards Association) Standard C390-93, Energy Efficiency Test Methods for Three-Phase Induction Motors. CSA International, Etobicoke (Toronto), Ontario, Canada, M9W 1R3.
- [8] M. G. Vangel. The joint distribution of a normal mean and extremum with applications to quality control. In *Proceedings of the Section on Physical and Engineering Sciences*. American Statistical Association, 1998.

- [9] Statistical methods for motor efficiency data. Motor and Generator Section Publication, National Electrical Manufacturers Association, Washington, DC 20037, May 1978.
- [10] ASTM Standard E 122-89, Standard practice for choice of sample size to estimate a measure of quality for a lot or process, 1989.
- [11] C. Stein. A two-sample test for a linear hypothesis whose power is independent of variance. Annals of Mathematical Statistics, 16:243-258, 1945.
- [12] P. J. Bickel and K. A. Doksum. Mathematical Statistics. Holden Day, Oakland, CA, 1977.
- [13] Energy conservation program for consumer products. Code of Federal Regulations, Chapter II, Vol. 10, Part 430, pp. 93–263, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, Washington, DC, 1-1-97 1997.
- [14] R. S. Schulman. Statistics in Plain English with Computer Applications. Van Norstand Reinhold, New York, 1992.

Appendix A

Exerpts from the Final Rule

This appendix contains exerpts from 10 CFR Part 431, "Energy Efficiency Program for Certain Commercial and Industrial Equipment: Test Procedures, Labeling, and Certification Requirements for Electric Motors," *Federal Register*, Vol. 64, No. 192, Tuesday, October 5, 1999, pp. 54114–54172. The criteria for establishing compliance with the EPCA standard efficiencies and for substantiation and subsequent verification of an AEDM are prescribed in §431.24, pp. 54152–54154. The Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing is published in the Appendix B to Subpart G, pp. 54171 and 54172.

A.1 Certification testing

431.24(b)(2) Selection of units for testing. For each basic model selected for testing, a sample of units shall be selected at random and tested. The sample shall be comprised of production units of the basic model, or units that are representative of such production units. The sample size shall be not fewer than five units, except that when fewer than five units of a basic model would be produced over a reasonable period of time (approximately 180 days), then each unit shall be tested. In a test of compliance with a represented average of nominal efficiency:

(i) The average full-load efficiency of the sample \bar{X} which is defined by

$$\bar{X} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i,$$

where X_i is the measured full-load efficiency of unit *i* and *n* is the number of units tested, shall satisfy the condition:

$$\bar{X} \ge \frac{100}{1 + 1.05 \left(\frac{100}{RE} - 1\right)}$$

where RE is the represented nominal full-load efficiency, and

(ii) The lowest full-load efficiency in the sample X_{min} , which is defined by

$$X_{min} = \min(X_i)$$

shall satisfy the condition

$$X_{min} \ge \frac{100}{1 + 1.15 \left(\frac{100}{RE} - 1\right)}$$

A.2 AEDM substantiation

§431.24(a)(3) Substantiation of an alternative efficiency determination method. Before an AEDM is used, its accuracy and reliability must be substantiated as follows:

- (i) The AEDM must be applied to at least five basic models that have been tested in accordance with §431.23 of this subpart, and
- (ii) The predicted total power loss for each basic model, calculated by applying the AEDM, must be within plus or minus 10% of the mean total power loss determined from testing of that basic model.
- (4) Subsequent verification of an AEDM.

- (i) Each manufacturer shall periodically select basic models representative of those to which it has applied an AEDM, and for each basic model selected shall either:
 - (A) Subject a sample of units to testing in accordance with §§431.23 and 431.24(b)(2) by an accredited laboratory that meets the requirements of §431.25,
 - (B) Have a certification body recognized under §431.27 certify its nominal full load efficiency, or
 - (C) Have an independent state-registered professional engineer, who is qualified to perform an evaluation of electric motor efficiency in a highly competent manner and who is not an employee of the manufacturer, review the manufacturer's representations and certify that the results of the AEDM accurately represent the total power loss and nominal full load efficiency of the basic model.

A.3 The Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing

Appendix B to Subpart G of Part 431-Sampling Plan for Enforcement Testing

- Step 1. The first sample size (n_1) must be five or more units.
- Step 2. Compute the mean (\bar{X}_1) of the measured energy performance of the n_1 units in the first sample as follows:

$$\bar{X}_1 = \frac{1}{n_1} \sum_{i=1}^{n_1} X_i \tag{26}$$

where X_i is the measured full-load efficiency of unit *i*.

Step 3. Compute the sample standard deviation (S_1) of the measured full-load efficiency of the n_1 units in the first sample as follows:

$$S_1 = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n_1} (X_i - \bar{X}_1)^2}{n_1 - 1}}.$$
(27)

Step 4. Compute the standard error $(SE(\bar{X}_1))$ of the mean full-load efficiency of the first sample as follows:

$$SE(\bar{X}_1) = \frac{S_1}{\sqrt{n_1}}.$$
 (28)

Step 5. Compute the lower control limit (LCL_1) for the mean of the first sample using RE as the desired mean as follows:

$$LCL_1 = RE - tSE(\bar{X}_1) \tag{29}$$

where RE is the applicable EPCA nominal full-load efficiency when the test is to determine compliance to the applicable statutory standard, or is the labeled nominal full-load efficiency when the test is to determine compliance with the labeled efficiency value, and t is the 2.5th percentile of a t-distribution for a sample size of n_1 , which yields a 97.5% confidence level for a one-tailed t-test.

- Step 6. Compare the mean of the first sample (\bar{X}_1) with the lower control limit (LCL_1) to determine one of the following:
 - (i) If the mean of the first sample is below the lower control limit, then the basic model is in noncompliance and testing is at an end.
 - (ii) If the mean is equal to or greater than the lower control limit, no final determination of compliance or noncompliance can be made; proceed to Step 7.

Step 7. Determine the recommended sample size (n) as follows:

$$n = \left[\frac{tS_1(120 - 0.2RE)}{RE(20 - 0.2RE)}\right]^2 \tag{30}$$

where S_1 and t have the values used in Steps 4 and 5, respectively. The factor

$$\frac{120 - 0.2RE}{RE(20 - 0.2RE)}$$

is based on a 20% tolerance in the total power loss at full load and fixed output power.

Given the value of n, determine one of the following:

- (i) If the value of n is less than or equal to n_1 and if the mean energy efficiency of the first sample (\bar{X}_1) is equal to or greater than the lower control limit (LCL_1) , the basic model is in compliance and testing is at an end.
- (ii) If the value of n is greater than n₁, the basic model is in noncompliance. The size of a second sample n₂ is determined to be the smallest integer equal to or greater than the difference n n₁. If the value of n₂ so calculated is greater than 20 n₁, set n₂ equal to 20 n₁.
- Step 8. Compute the combined mean (\bar{X}_2) of the measured energy performance of the n_1 and n_2 units of the combined first and second samples as follows:

$$\bar{X}_2 = \frac{1}{n_1 + n_2} \sum_{i=1}^{n_1 + n_2} X_i.$$
(31)

Step 9. Compute the standard error $(SE(\bar{X}_2))$ of the mean full-load efficiency of the n_1 and n_2 units in the combined first and second samples as follows:

$$SE(\bar{X}_2) = \frac{S_1}{\sqrt{n_1 + n_2}}.$$
 (32)

(Note that S_1 is the value obtained above in Step 3.)

Step 10. Set the lower control limit (LCL_2) to

$$LCL_2 = RE - tSE(\bar{X}_2), \tag{33}$$

where t has the value obtained in Step 5, and compare the combined sample mean (\bar{X}_2) to the lower control limit (LCL_2) to find one of the following:

- (i) If the mean of the combined sample (\bar{X}_2) is less than the lower control limit (LCL_2) , the basic model is in noncompliance and testing is at an end.
- (ii) If the mean of the combined sample (\bar{X}_2) is equal to or greater than the lower control limit (LCL_2) , the basic model is in compliance and testing is at an end.

MANUFACTURER-OPTION TESTING

If a determination of noncompliance is made in Steps 6, 7, or 11, above, the manufacturer may request that additional testing be conducted, in accordance with the following procedures.

Step A. The manufacturer requests that an additional number, n_3 , of units be tested, with n_3 chosen such that $n_1 + n_2 + n_3$ does not exceed 20.

- Step B. Compute the mean full-load efficiency, standard error, and lower control limit of the new combined sample in accordance with the procedures prescribed in Steps 8, 9, and 10, above.
- Step C. Compare the mean performance of the new combined sample to the lower control limit (LCL_2) to determine one of the following:
 - (a) If the new combined sample mean is equal to or greater than the lower control limit, the basic model is in compliance and testing is at an end.
 - (b) If the new combined sample mean is less than the lower control limit and the value of $n_1+n_2+n_3$ is less than 20, the manufacturer may request that additional units be tested. The total of all units tested may not exceed 20. Steps A, B, and C are then repeated.
 - (c) Otherwise, the basic model is determined to be in noncompliance.



NIST Technical Publications

Periodical

Journal of Research of the National Institute of Standards and Technology—Reports NIST research and development in those disciplines of the physical and engineering sciences in which the Institute is active. These include physics, chemistry, engineering, mathematics, and computer sciences. Papers cover a broad range of subjects, with major emphasis on measurement methodology and the basic technology underlying standardization. Also included from time to time are survey articles on topics closely related to the Institute's technical and scientific programs. Issued six times a year.

Nonperiodicals

Monographs—Major contributions to the technical literature on various subjects related to the Institute's scientific and technical activities.

Handbooks—Recommended codes of engineering and industrial practice (including safety codes) developed in cooperation with interested industries, professional organizations, and regulatory bodies.

Special Publications—Include proceedings of conferences sponsored by NIST, NIST annual reports, and other special publications appropriate to this grouping such as wall charts, pocket cards, and bibliographies.

National Standard Reference Data Series—Provides quantitative data on the physical and chemical properties of materials, compiled from the world's literature and critically evaluated. Developed under a worldwide program coordinated by NIST under the authority of the National Standard Data Act (Public Law 90-396). NOTE: The Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data (JPCRD) is published bimonthly for NIST by the American Chemical Society (ACS) and the American Institute of Physics (AIP). Subscriptions, reprints, and supplements are available from ACS, 1155 Sixteenth St., NW, Washington, DC 20056.

Building Science Series—Disseminates technical information developed at the Institute on building materials, components, systems, and whole structures. The series presents research results, test methods, and performance criteria related to the structural and environmental functions and the durability and safety characteristics of building elements and systems.

Technical Notes—Studies or reports which are complete in themselves but restrictive in their treatment of a subject. Analogous to monographs but not so comprehensive in scope or definitive in treatment of the subject area. Often serve as a vehicle for final reports of work performed at NIST under the sponsorship of other government agencies.

Voluntary Product Standards—Developed under procedures published by the Department of Commerce in Part 10, Title 15, of the Code of Federal Regulations. The standards establish nationally recognized requirements for products, and provide all concerned interests with a basis for common understanding of the characteristics of the products. NIST administers this program in support of the efforts of private-sector standardizing organizations.

Order the following NIST publications—FIPS and NISTIRs—from the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161.

Federal Information Processing Standards Publications (FIPS PUB)—Publications in this series collectively constitute the Federal Information Processing Standards Register. The Register serves as the official source of information in the Federal Government regarding standards issued by NIST pursuant to the Federal Property and Administrative Services Act of 1949 as amended, Public Law 89-306 (79 Stat. 1127), and as implemented by Executive Order 11717 (38 FR 12315, dated May 11, 1973) and Part 6 of Title 15 CFR (Code of Federal Regulations).

NIST Interagency or Internal Reports (NISTIR)—The series includes interim or final reports on work performed by NIST for outside sponsors (both government and nongovernment). In general, initial distribution is handled by the sponsor; public distribution is handled by sales through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161, in hard copy, electronic media, or microfiche form. NISTIR's may also report results of NIST projects of transitory or limited interest, including those that will be published subsequently in more comprehensive form.

U.S. Department of Commerce National Institute of Standards and Technology Gaithersburg, MD 20899–0001

Official Business Penalty for Private Use \$300